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2. PROPERTY DATA

Historic Mames:
Current Mame:

Original / Present Use:

Address:

Sire Location:

Tax Parcel Number:
Legal Description:
[ate of Construction:
Original Designer:
Original Builder:

Hite Arca:

Building Size:

Ormiginal / Former Owners:

Presemt Orwner:

Crwmer's Representative:

Searile-First Marional Bank, Seafirst Bank (19501994
Bank of America

Bank, with drive-up service window {presendy ATM) and parking
lest, puiblic banking hall, vaults, and offices

566 Denny Way
Seattle, Washingron 98109

The southern rwo-thirds of the eastern half of the block bounded
by John Street on the north, Gth Avenue North on the east, Denny
Way on the south, and Taylor Avenue North on the west.

1991 200580
D). T. Denny's Pack Addition, Block 68, Laes 3, 4, 5 and &
1950

Architect John W. Maloney (after a prototype bank by Architect .
Lister Halmes, 1946}
General Construction Company

25,920 gross square feet (GSF) / 0.6 acres (per King Counry Parcel
Viewer)

15,600 GSF (King County Assessor Property Records)

Seartle-First Mational Bank (1950 - 1974}
Seafirst Corporation (1974 - 1933)
BankAmerica Corparation (1983 - 2006)

Bank of Amencs

Attn: Heather Downey
1001 dth Avenue, 4th flocr
Seartle, WA 98154

John Wayland, Senior Development Director
ERE Properties, Inc.

525 Market Streer, 4ch floor

San Francisco, CA 94105

Tel. (415) 445-6378

Fax (415%) 449-3644
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3. HISTORIC CONTEXT
A History of the Seartle-First National Bank

The history of Seantle-First Marional Bank, which was acquired by Bank of America when BankAmerica
Corporation bought Seafirst Corporation in 1983, reaches back 1o the origins of Seartle and the ciry's
earliest established banks. Seattle pioneer Dexter Horton is reported 1o have started “hanking money for
local loggers by hiding sacks around his general store in 1860s. After spending some rime in San
Francisen, Horon returned to Seattle and, with one of his former mercantile partners, [avad Phills
established the ciry's first official bank. Phillips, Horron & Company began operation in June of 1870,
in 4 one-story brick and scone building on Lst Avenue South near Washington Srreer. Several months
later they moved the banling business to a 20 by 40 wood-frame building next door,

Afeer Phillips' death in 1872, the bank's name was changed to Dexter Horton & Company and Arthur
A. Denny joined the business. In 1875, the rwo alder buildings were replaced with a one=story, 28" by
70" stone building at the corner of Washingron and Commercial Streess. [n 1877 the bank was
incorparated. Dhuring the 1889 fire the building was damaged bur its vault protected records and
deposits, which then approached 52 million,

Meanwhile, the twe other orpanizations that would form the foundation of Seartle-First Mational Bank
were established. In 1882 George W, Harris formed another privare bank, George W. Harris and
Company. Later that year, after he obtined a national charter, it became the First Mational Bank, The
following year, in 1883, Puger Sound Matonal Bank was founded.

Seattle wearhered the economic depression of the eady 18905 and roward the end of the decade boomed
with the Yukon gold rush. A number of new hanks had been formed, and in che first decade of the 20th
century husinesses began to merge to combine resources. The three banks mentioned — First National
Bank Group, Dexter Horron & Company, and Seartle National Banlk - each acquired or merged with a
nuember of other banks. With the menger of Puget Sound Nartional Bank and Seattle Narional Bank in
1910, Seactle National Bank overtook Dexter Horton Bank as the largest commercial banlk in Seattle.
Dexter Horton maintained its reputation a5 an indusery leader, and in 1907 moved into a new seven-
story building ar the comer of Second Avenue and Cherry Sereet.

In 1924, Dexter Horton again became the largest commercial bank in Searde after merging wich the
Union National Bank of Seattle. That same year, architect John Graham, Sr. designed the terra cotta-
clad Dexrer Horton Building at the northeast corner of 2nd and Cherry, and the company had a new
headquarters,

Finally, in Oceober 1929, three of Seattle’s four major bank groups consolidated. Dexter Horton, Seattle
Mational, anc First Maricnal jeined rogether to form First Seattle Dexrer Horton Marional Bank. (A
fourth, University Mational Bank, withdrew from the merger at the last minute.} The Dexter Horton
Building remained the headquarers of the bank for the next forty years, The cumberseme name of the
meeged hanks was changed in 1931, to First National Bank af Seartle, and in 1933, w Seanle-First
Marional Banlk.

Federal banking reform following the Depression changed the nature of local banks in the 1930s. The
Mational Banking Act of 1933 changed regulations to allow national banks to operate branches on a
ctatewide hasis, as long as state banks could do the same. Washingron State passed legislation allowing
branches as well.
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Seartle-First National quickly converted its alfiliate banks into branches, and proceeded 1o establish new
branches in communities without banking fcilities. Seattle's International Branch, opened in April
1934, was the first bank to serve the neighborhood and boasted special arention for non-native English-
speaking customers. By the end of 1940, Seartle-First Marional had branched into 22 Washington
communities, becoming the largest bank in the Pacific Northwest and one of the 50 largest in the naron
(Scares, p. 83).

The wartime economy of the 19405 resulted in both large deposirs o the banl and large lines of credit
exrended to war contractors, Seartle-First Mational alse participated with ocher banks in War Bond
drives and opened wartime offices at various military posts and facilities. These branches were nat
operated for profit, and were closed by the end of 1946,

Afrer Word War 11, through the 19505 and into the 1960s, the bank continued to grow through
acquisitions and establishment of new branches. Nadonal Bank of Commerce was Searle-First National
Bank's biggest branch bank competitor. By mid-century, National Bank of Commerce was the second
largest bank in Washington, after Searte-First National, and the 46ch largest bank in the country, based
on the amount of deposits (Elliot and Olson, p. 71 -74). By 1966, Scartle-First Narional Bank had
grown o include 117 branches and 3,100 employees. It remained the largest bank in the Northwest, and
was 28th in the nation. Searde’s National Bank of Cornmerce, meanwhile, continued to grow through
consolidation with the Washingron National Bank. NBC merged with Coast Mortgage Company, and
the Commerce Credit Company joined the Mational Bank of Commerce as subsidiacies of Marine
Bancorporation in the 19605, By 1974 i was part of the Rainier Bancorporation, which was sold 1o Los
Angeles-based Security Pacific Corporation in 1987 for £1.1 hillion and renamed Security Pacific
Washington.

In 1974, Scattle-First Narional Bank was established as a one-bank holding company and began to use
‘he Seafiest name, In 1983, Seafirst Corporation was boughe by BankAmerica Corporation, which
merged with Security Pacific Washington in 1992, In this way, the antecedents of Seartle's rwo carliest
hanks wers brought into one national corporation. The Seafirst name was rerained on its branch banks
until 1999, at which point it was changed to Bank of America.

Development of the Cascade and Regrade Neighborhoads

The subject property is locared in an area of the <ty defined by the Seattle Center Grounds on the west,
2rd lirnired access roads or highway systems, including Mescer Strees on the north and Aurora
Avenue/Highway 99 on the east. The relatively flat sice is on the north side of Denny Way.

Dienny Way tuns east-west from the ciry's waterfront up through Capitol Hill. In pars of the ciry the
streer defines a shift in the urban grid, which itself radiates in several locations from the curve of the
Elliott Bay Harbor. While the grid and large arverial streets, such as Denny Way, tend o define
neighborhood edges, this area was cnce part of continuous uthan fabric that made up the westernmost
portion of the Cascade neighborhood. (The L5, Census defines the boundaries of Cascade as extending

wesl to the Seantle Center.)

This area was included in the last phase of the Denny Hill Regrade project, which resulted in a leveling of
the surrounding blocks. Thus it shares its 20th- century development with both neighbothoods, The

- denification of the surrounding area as & part of a distinee neighborhood became more ambiguous after
the early 19305, when the Battery Street Tunnel and Aurora Avenue (located ane block to the east of the
subject property), were constructed as part of Highway 99. The following historic averview of the
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surrounding area includes references to both the South Lake Union/Cascade Meighborhood and the
Denny Regrade.

The concept of regrading Denny Hill was advanced in 1598 as a vision to make Searde’s steep hills and
streets more level. The first phase, which dramatically lowered the area along 15t Avenue from Fine
Street to Denny Way was completed in January 1899, Direcred by Seartle's visionary Cicy Engineer,
Reginald Heber (R.H.) Thempson, the regrade was intended to encourage development chrough the
construction of steaight, level roads and warer systems in the ciey.

A contract for the second phase of the regrading of Dienny Hill was let in 1903. By 1911, the area
berween 2nd and 5th Avenucs, from Pike to Cedar Strects was flarened, leveling as much as 80 of the
original Denny Hill, 1n 1910, the City's Municipal Council Flans Commission hired planner Virgil
Bogue o produce a comprehensive “civic vision" for the regraded area. Bogue, who had worked with the
renowned Olmsted Brothers, produced a grand Beaux-Ares scheme with radiating plazas lined by
Meoclassical style buildings. The plan proposed a new cavic arca in the Regrade that followed an urban
design pattern pepular in 19th-century Europe. However, Seartle voters soundly rejected the plan in
1912, voting two to ane against it. [n the meanwhile, the completion of the Chirtenden Locks in 1910
and the Lake Washington Ship Canal in 1917 had prompred further industrial development and
maritime use of the Souch Lake Union area,

The third and final phase of regrading Denny Hill oceurred berween 1928 and 1930, It reduced the
hill's eastern slope, comprised by the area berween 5th and Westlake Avenues and berween Virginia and
Harrison Streers, including the subject property and several blocks north of it

Diuring the subsequent years, the leveled Denny Regrade neighborhood grew very slowly, with many
vacant lots and some isolated apartments and commercial buildings. Drawn to the area by cheaper land
prices and relatively close and level proximity to the downtewn, auto dealerships, warchouses, addirional
service garages, and gas stations gradually were esablished in the area, slong with smuall rerail facilities and
apartments. Construction along and norch of Denny Way is indicated in early Kroll Maps of 1912 -
1920, which show a modest parcern of growth in the presence of small, wisnd-framed residenrial and
eammercial strucrures.

In the early 19505, the City constructed a new electrical substation at Broad Street and Gth Avenue. This
Facility was one of a number of nearhy public facilities, aleng with the full-block "bus barn” maintenance
and parking lot, the Civic Auditorium, Armory, and Memaorial Stadium, which were located several
blocks northsest of the subject properey. In the early 1960s the Audirorium, Armory, Stadium, and a
former public school, playground, and fire stanon were aggregated and redeveloped as part of the fair
grounds for the Century 21 Exposition. The bus barn and Broad Streer Substation resulted in the
vacation and closure of several streets north of Thomas Stweer, which impacred pedestrian and vehicular
wraffic in the ares.

Construction of Highway 99 and the Battery Street Tunnel in the 1950z essentially divided the Cascade
neighborhood. Increased taffic on Denny Way further defined the Regrade and the Denny Triangle as
separate from the area surrounding the Seartle-First National Bank / Bank of America property. In
response to the Waorld's Fair, the immediate neighbarhood was developed with lerwr-scale morels and
ourist-related facilities.

Vihicle raffic on Denny Way and nearby Mercer Street has continued to increase in the last three
decades. At the same time, the close proximiry o 1-5 and dewntown made South Lake Union and
Regrade neighborhonds increasingly acractive for development. A comparison of Kroll Maps dating
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from 1940 - 1960 and current conditions indicates increasingly large-scale. full-block mixed-use
residential developments in the blacks south of the subject property.

Designated local landmarks near the subject building include "Seattle, Chief of Suquamish” statue at
Tillicum Place, at the intersection of Sth Avenue, Denny Way, and Cedar Street, approximately rwo
blocks southwest; the Space MNeedle and Seattle Monorail on the Seatde Center grounds, two and three
blocks norchwese; Old Norway Hall (presenty Cornish College of the Arts, Raisbeck Performance Hall),
at 2015 Boren Avenue, approximately eight blocks to the southeast, and Fire Station No. 2, at 4ch and
Baztery Street, approximately three blocks south.

A 1975 urban inventory of the neighborhaod, led by archiecss Victor Steinbreuck and Folke Nyberg o
Historic Seattle, did not identify the subject building as significant 1o the city or the community. The
survey cited the following buildings, which remain within three blocks of the subject bank property, as
signilicant to the city. (None of these has been designated.)

Apartment building at 2600 Frd Avenue (ca. 19140]

Cedar Apartments, 320 Cedar Screer (1916)

Hermaosza Apartments, 2700 dth Avenue (1913)

Parks Deparcment Headquarcers, Denny Way and Dexter Avenue Morth (1948}

Former Post lutelligencer Building [ Group Health Administration, 521 Wall Screet (1948)
Ciry Light Broad Street Substation, 526 Harrison Street (1949)

s the 1995 South Lake Union/Seartle Commons Plan EIS, the subject building was identified as
Category 2, a building of secondary or community signifieance (p. 15-20).

The Bank as a Building Type

The subject building is an example of a Modeen style bank. The narure of banking and bank architecture
changed radically in the post-war era due to broad culturl shifts including general prespericy, the rise of
middle-class consumers, and booming auromobile use. This was anticipated as early as the mid-1940s,
when there was a call for “the bank building, as well as the banker, [to] get rid of the 'stiff-collar and fishy
eve' and meet the customer at least as engagingly as a first-rate retail store” (Arohisectural Record, March
1945, p. B3).

Historically, the American bank had been designed ro represent wradition and solidiy, using Classical
s 1o reinfarce 2 sense of permanence and continuiry. Banks in the 19th and early 20th centuries
primarily served corporations, businesses, and the wealthy, The bank was an awesome temple with 2
grand banking hall. Internal funcrions were clearly separated with formal spaces created 1o enforce a
sense of hierarchy and eontrol, In Seartle this earlier business and building rype is well represented by
two locally designated landmarks — the Diexter Horon Building, ac 710 2nd Avenue, and the Puger
Sound Bank at 815 2nd Avenue.

Changes in banking patrons and cheir needs in the post-war era resulted in decided shift away from
traditional bank design chat had sought o awe or overwhelm the customer. In the suburhs and cicies,
women resumed their roles of homemnakers and shoppers and became the banks” primary custemers.
Sembers of the dsing middle dlass demanded new types of services {Progresive Architecture, October
1955). The architecture of the bank responded 1o the "complerely new arritude (that] invaded the
banking business — that of being friendly” {Pragreisive Architecrure, June 1953, p. 123,
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A comparison of bank buildings fearured in post-war design periodicals reveals a consistency in the
resulting design approach. Modernism was the ideal complement for the banking induscry seeking o
distance itsell from its stodgy past and project a new, bold, optimistic image. Post-war banks were
designed to be more human-scale and user-oriented. They featured open floar-plan structures that

emphasized accessibility, friendliness, and contemperary notions of progress.

Modern Bank Building Design in Scartle

T convey a sense of stability withous the 1raditional Classical devail and scale, bank designers typically
offset glared areas with a concrete core, a solid, shelrering roof, or massive, exposed structural elements.
all of these concepts found built expression in the subject building on Denny Way, as well as in the
NBC Rank ar 6th and Olive (1955, now Bank of America), and ar Bartery Street and 3rd Avenue {1954,
now US Bank). The 3rd and Battery branch was a Modern building, described as "embodying a new
concept of bank architecrure” {Seqtsle Tiner, June 13, 1954).

Sparial qualities of the carlier banks persisted even in modern bank buildings: the comventional "banking
hall" became the central, publicly accessible banking room or lobby, with managers' quarters and telless’
cages more vizible but separated by partitions to one or both sides. Bank offices, vaulrs, and employes
launges were locared rypically in mose private areas such as the second floor. Architecturally, the new
banks also incorporated Modernist stylisoc elements, such as smooth exterior facades of painted concrere
and large arcas of insulating and heat-resistant glass. New conveniences were addressed with ground level
parking lots, drive-up teller facilities, a 24-hour-depository, and escalators in multi-story buildings.

This “new concept” in bank design acknowledged the growing role of the autemabile in daily life, and
sought to make the building accessible to drivers and noticeable to passing traffic ar 40 miles per hour.
Dirive-up windows, ample parking, and careful placement of the bank on its Lot addressed the auro
culture. In order to make the bank visible 1o passersby, one critic wrote, "[mjake it all glass, e the
whole building inw a display case, light it up ar night” { Architectural Forwm, February 1953, p. 107}

Searrle-First Narional constructed the subjoct building in 1950, its eighth new building in the post-war
peried. Contemporaneous articles tout the bank's ample parking, convenient auromohile banking, and
customer convenience and comfore. The drive-up or drive-in was developed in the mid-to-lae 19405, so
T wis 4 mew CoRvenience at certain restaurants, theaters, and banks. The building was also designed with
the idea of a large, public ares on the interior, limiting working areas se customers would have the most
"mmlnﬁlii.ﬂ”iu Itlhb}"-

The subject building was designed after a protorype, which was developed by architect ]. Lister Holmes
for Seartle-First Marional Bank's Industrial Branch (1946). The development of a prototype design
appears to have been an effort by Seattle-Firse National wo standardize the branches, and perhaps 1o unify
and "brand” its image, in order that its various buildings would be ensily identifiable and recognizable-
Use of buildings as symbols and signs emerged along with corporate marketing in the early and mid 20th
century. Buildings such as Carnegie Libraries, gas stations, lesdging, and restauranes such as McDonald's
and Denny's all used prototypes.

I the early 19605, Seattle-First National announced plans o build a new headquarters in a downtown
skyscraper, The site, between Spring and Madison Streess and 3rd and 4ch Avenues, acros from the
downtown public library, was purchased for $1.35 million in 1965. The 50-story Sea-First Building
{knewn as "the big one”) was opened in summer 1969. Designed by NBB], the steel-framed scrucrure
was the tallest building in Seattle and the Pacific Morthwest at the time, and had a vowal of nearly 560,000
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sqquare feer. As with the branch bank before it, it featured on-site parking and contemparary banking

services within an innevative Modern design, in its case an anodized aluminum curtainwall stracture,

The Architectural Context of Modernism

As 2 stvle, Modernism rose wo prominence in America through its commercial applications after 1945,
but its origins were in Europe herween 1915 and the late 19305, There, Modernism was not so much a
style as an ideology. Suffering from spiritual and economic loss after Warld War I, the archirects and
theorists of sought a revolutionary break with all of the past - ixs sentimentality and nationalism, and also
its elitist reverence for earlier styles and ornament.

Early European Modernists sought to serve sociery by creating an architecture of light and economy
through the interdisciplinary efforts of artists, craftsmen, engineers, aned architects. In reconciling
sociery’s needs with the rechnical progress of the machine age - with its mator cars, airplanes, radio and
phonographs — Modern architects drew from formal aspects of avant-garde arts movements, including
Cubism in France and Holland, New Objectivity and Expressionism in Germany, and Fururism in Taly.
Architects such as Walter Gropius, Ludwig Mies van der Rohe, and Le Corbuiser sought a beauty derived
from wtility, and from the disect relationship berween a building's purpose and its construction materials.
Their ideals were oranslated into building ferms with free plans (where the walls and perimeter were
unencumbered by strucrure and could freely shape space], cubic massing, flar roofs, pilsed (pillars) and
windows grouped in horizontal and vertical compasitions.

Because of the Depression and World War 11, few large Modern buildings were designed or constructed
in the northwestern . 5. uncl the late 1%40s. Modernism was introduced in Seartle, as it was in other
West Coast cities, largely through residential peojects, Locally, these included Faul Thiry's house (1935 -
1936) and the Yesler Terrace housing complex (1 941, ]. Lister Helmes with Aitken, Bain, Jacobuen, and
Sroddard), Modernism was expressed also by infraserucoure projects such as the Lake Washington
Floating Bridge (1940) and small-scale industrial structures such as the U Kiln Building (1942, Paul
Thiry).

Gradually, a new regional style emerged in the Northwess, combining Modern design principles with
structural innovation, responsiveness to natural light, site landscape, and the nature of indigenous
materials. Institutional buildings thas exemplified chis style included Gaffney's Lake Wilderness Lodge
{1949 - 1950, Young, Richardson, Carleton & Diedic); Seartle Public School Administration Building
{1946 - 1948) and Carherine Blaine Junior High School (1949 - 1952}, both by ]. Lister Holmes; Paul
Thiry's Museum of History and Industry (1948 - 19503, Morth Fast Library {1954) and State Capitol
Library (1955 - 1959% and Paul Kirk's University Unitarian Church {1955 - 1959) and U'W Faculty
Cenuer (1958 - 1960, with Victor Steinbrueck). During the post-war period, corporate archirectural
pracrices took over large commercial and business projects, mostly in the downtown area, with design
influenced by national rendencies, notably the Miesian tradition and the advanced rechnology of the

aluminum and glass curtain-wall,

In the late 1950s and early 1960s, planning for the Seattle World's Fair provided unique opporounities
for many local architects to explore Modern themes. Futuristic structures, such as the Monerail and
Space Needle, are the mest noticeable resules of the Fair. A number of its other buildings and exhibits
embodied the era's Fith in progress and the city's vision of the future: science and technology.

Modernism allowed for unprecedented freedem in adapting a building's form to new funcrional
demands. As American sociery became less stratified and maore consumer-otiented in the post-war era,
more Americans enjoyed a higher standard of living. Many businesses that had previously been oriented
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primarily toward corporations or the rich shifted their attention to the growing middle class. Modernism
hecame the architectire of this shifr. Hotels, ressaurants, car dealerships, clinics, srall office buildings,
theaters and banks reinvented themselves in more consumer-friendly guises, and expressed this changz in
the form of smaller-scale, open-plan, naturally-lic buildings.

In Seartle, the post-war construction of small-scale Modern buildings became comman, making the style
the pervasive norm. In this context, the Searde-First National Bank's tth and Denny Branch is both a
unique design expression and represencarive of its era.

John W, Maloney, Original Architect

ol W. Maloney {ca. 1896 - 1978) was the designer of the 6th and Denny Branch bank. He was born
i Sacramento, California, and his family moved to the Puget Sound area in the early 1900s. He
artended Auburn High School and then the University of Washington and Stanford University. After
serving in World War |, Maloney established an architecrursl practice in Yakima in 1922. His buildings
there include the A, E. Larsen Building (1931), an Art Deco commercial structure, which is listed on
bath the Washingron Heritage Register and the National Register af Hisworic Places.

In 1943, Maloney epened an architectural office in Seartle, where he wenr on 10 design a number of
churches, along with schools, hospitals and office buildings. His designs for Seattle area churches
include St Benedicr Chureh in Wallingford, Holy Family Church in West Searde, Sacred Heart Church
in Lower Queen Anne, St. Thomas Seminary at the north end of Lake Washington (1936 - 1958, the
present campus of Bastyr University), and 5. Anne Church and Rectory on Queen Anne Hill {1%60).

As a sole practitioner, John W. Maloney designed a number of forward-looking buildings wsing
nnovarive serucrural technologies and Modern design elements. St John's Hospital in Santa Menica,
California [1932) appeared ina national advertisement in the June 1952 Architecrural Forum for Truscon
Steel Company of Ohio. In the ad, Maloney commented on the company's line of commercial stecl
windows, which were used in the hospiral.

The subject building was designed by Maloney in 1950 when he was a sole practitioner. (Project
drawings note that his affice was in the downtown Central Building.} This was followed by a number of
projects for the Seartle Public School District: an addition 1o the 20th Avenue School (1955, presenty
Meany Middle Schaol), Jefferson Park Junior High School {1956}, Asa Mercer Junior High School
{19571, an addition to Grover Cleveland High School {1958), and Rainier Beach Junior-Sentor High
Schoal (19600, In 1958 he designed & curtainwall building as the regional offices for the Blue Cross
Insurance Plan, Washingron Haospital Association, on Scattle's First Hill.

1n 1960, Maloney designed another office building in the Modern style, located on Eastdake Avenue in
Seattle. The building was construcred to hesuse three insurance groups. (Seactle Times, July 24, 1960).
This small-scale building was a simple curtainwall design. Thar same year Maloney designed 5t Anne's
Catholic Church and reciory in Ql.l.-ul:n Anne Carholic Church, Recmory to Cost i, (W0, Searrle
Timeer, undated article, SPL Callection)

In 1963, Maloney joined with others 1o form a new firer, Maloney, Herringgon, Freesz & Lund. That
firm grew in the 19605 to a company with an estimated 40 personnel. Each parener was responsible for
his own design work, with the firm organized 1o provide production. [mmediately after is formation,
the firm designed 5r. Thomas More Catholic Church in Lynnwood, Washington (Serele Times, Octaber
20, 1963, SPL). The following year, the firm designed a $3.9 million men's dorm for Seattle University
(Searele Timer, May 11, 1963, SPL). In 1966, the firm designed the Lemicux Library, a reinforced
concree and steel-frame building that features bronze-tinted windows and cladding of white marble and
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green granite, for Seattle Universiry. As a late Modern building, it exhibits elements of the Bruralist style,
(An undated pamphlet ar SPL described the building as "contempaorary American Godhie,")

1n addition to the buildings for Seartle University, the firm designed institutional structures in Alaska
and campus facilities for other regional colleges and universities, ineluding Washington State University,
Gonzaga University, and Central Washington University. The buildings ar WAL included Halland
Library (1948 - 19500, Todd Hall (194%), Cempron Union Building (1950 - 1952, and Johnson Tower
fca, 1935).

Maloney retived from the firm in 1970, In 1973 - 1974, the firm designed alverations to the subject
building. Later, with new prineipals, Maloney, Herringron, Freesz & Lund subsequently evolved into
Mills John and Rigdon. MJR focused on hospital design and planning, with 95 percent of the firm's
recent work in healtheare, It merged in 2004 with a Pordand fiem, Clark Kjos Archirects, and is known
ciurrently as CKA.

] Lister Holmes

. Lister Holmes designed an earlier Seattle-First Mational Bank that appears o have served as a
protorypical design for the Gth and Denny Branch. Following Word War 11, Holmes emerged as a
leading architect in translating European Maodernism o fit the Northwest context. Through his work
and thar of others, = regional variant of Modernism was quickly adopted by the generation of Seattle
architects whe had initiated their carcers designing in academic traditions of the Beaux-Arns. In 1944,
Holmes designed the Industrial Branch building for Seartle-First Mational Bank, located a1 2764 15t
Avenue South, Intended to serve as a prototype, "[t]he new structure represented a model — a disrincrive
functional pattern of & new type of building ro be followed in a state-wide building program intended o
standardize all branch offices” [Bankoscope, p. 8.

Born in Seattle on July 6, 1891, ). Lister Holmes is considered one of the prominent MNarchwest
archireers of his era. After receiving a civil engineering degree from the University of Washingron in
1911, Holmes transferred 1o the Univessity of Pennsylvania where he earned a graduate architectural
degree in 1913, After graduaring, Holmes worked his way back oo Seattle, craveling through and
working in Philadelphia, Mew York, and Mentana, arriving in his hometown in 13 1G. He worked
briefly as a draftsman with E.F. Champney, and then as an architect with a several leading Seattle firms,
including Carl Gould: B. Marcus Priteca; Schack, Young and Myers; and Daniel Huntingron, before
c.s;ab-li:ﬂli.rl.'g his own 'rir.ll'l. in 1922 at I.|"|.-E AgE of j-'[]..

Holmes' early practice focused on commercial buildings, small hotels and apartment hlacks, and single-
family residences. Because of the widely based Beaws-Arts education, received in Pennsylvania, Holmes
was able 1o quickly develop a reputation for qualiry residencial architecture. He became one of the more
versatile architects in the Seattle area, with sryles ranging from Spanish colonial o 18th-century French
idioms.

Along with the onset of the Depression came a pradual shift by many architects towards the simplicity
and economy of the International Style. In the early to mid 1930 he became known for a
‘cantemporary” house in the Broadmoor neighborhood, ennstructed by the Puger Sound Mill Company,
which received local recognition through publications and an ALA award, By the late 19305, Holmes was
working on a variety of commissions. He continued to integrate his classical training with the new ideas
posed by regional Modernism, The shift in Holmes' career came in the late 1930s, parmally due to the
improved wartime economy, when his practice began to focus on large-scale housing projects and public
buildings both in Seattle and Vancowver, B, C. These included che Washingron State Pavilion for the
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1939 Mew York Woeld's Fair (now demoliched) as well as one of the first large-scale housing projects in
Seartle, Yesler Terrace (1940 - 1943).

Immediagely after the war, Holmes tackled multiple projects including the Seartle Public Schools
Administration Building (1946 - 1948), the lda Culver House (1948 - 1949, demaolished), and Seatdle
Goodwill Industrics {1948), The Catherine Blaine Junior High School (1949 - 1932) is recognized as an
ourstanding example of his Modern design work during this period.

In 1955, Holmes was clected a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects {FALA). The last major
works of his career included a number of UPS discribution buildings on the West Coast, including
Seartle, Pasadena and San Diego in the 19605, ]. Lister Holmes retired in Seartle and died the age of 95,
an July 18, 1986,

Construction of the Seattle-First Narional Bank Building

The subject building was constructed in 1930, en lors thar had been cleared and leveled 20 years earlier,
in the final phase of the Denny Hill Regrade. Prior to the regrading, the subject block and surrcunding
blacks were occupied primarily by low-scale, wood-framed residential buildings. The entire block was
level and vacant in 1932, when construction began on the Teamsters Building to the west of the alley.
(Ohver the nexe 15 years, the Teamsrers made several additions to the properry.) The 6th and Denny
Branch was Seartle-First Mational Bank's 50th statewide banking office.

The subject building was designed by John W. Maloney after ]. Lister Holmes' protorype. The massing
of the building and the taller, concave entry surround were carried over into Maloney's design, while
many ocher elements were singular to the specific site of this branch location.

4. ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION
Present Urhan Context and Site Condicons

The subject property is sited in the Denny Regrade neighborhood, surreunded by blocks containing a
mix of buildings and uses. Many different 2ones comverge at this location in the Denny Regrade. The
subject block is currently soned SM-85 (Seartle Mixed, with a maximum height af 85", The blocks
direcdy south, acress Denny Way, are zoned DMBER 125065 and DMEBSAC-24001 25,

The bank property is located on the narthwest corner of the intersection of Denny Way and &th Avenue
Narth, on the southeast corner of the hlock bounded by those streets on the south and cast, respectively,
as well as John Street on the north and Taylor Avenue North on the west. The site consists of Lots 3-6,
Block 68, D.T. Denny’s Park Addition, to form a parcel of 108" by 240" or 23,920 square feer. The wa
former Teamsters Buildings occupy the west half the block.

The site slopes down slightly te the north and east, approximately 10° from the southwest to the
northeast corners, The property is bounded by paved concrete sidewalks on the south and cast sides, and
a paved 16'-wide alley along the west side. The building is located at the southwest corner of the parcel,
abutting the alley to the west and a sidewalk to the south. A paved drive and surface parking lot are
located 1o the east and north of the building. A three-sided brick sign tawer, 50" tall, is sited 1o the
northeast of the building at the east property line. Two street tress are locared in frone of the building
along Denny Way, with addirional shrubs and plantings in raised beds.
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ﬂ}rigim] Building

The Seardle Firse-Mational Bank building is 3 one-story, reinforced concrete, Modern style strucrure. It
measures 65' by 1207, with a roof heighr of approximately 26°. The exterior is finished with Roman
brick and Indiana limestone. The building has a concrete foundation and full basement. The 27 thick
reinforced concrete roof slab is supported by five steel trusses ser 20° on-center and steel joists a1 2 on-
center. Footings, slabs, and trusses were designed for a furure clear-span second Moor (Reese, p. 4). Such
an addition was never made,

South and norch facades are very similar to each other, designed to provide equivalent entry for
customers approaching on foot (slong Denay Way, south facade) or by car (parking in the log
immediately north of the building). Each of these two facades features a raller, central pestion sheathed
in cut stone and flanked by brick-clad walls to the east and west. The smooth-finished stone veneer is
comprised of panels measuring 36 1/4" tall by 2'-0 1/8” wide, with 1/4" joints. The 30" wide stone
portion funcrions as a monumental entry surround. The entire surround is slighdy concave, with an
aluminum entry assembly recessed approximately 2', set within a central glazed arca approxirmarely 20
all by 18" wide. Original drawings note the glass panels as "heat absorbing plass wedged in mastic with
wood or fibre.” Centered ahove the glazed portion on bath nerth and south facades is 2 bronze Seactle-
First National Bank plaque set in a stone carrouche. On the south facade, the verticality of the entry
portion is reinforced by two rall windows, a single one set to cither side in the brick segment. [The
windows measure approximately 5'-6" wide by 14'-2" tall.) The north fecade is slightly wider to the est
of the entry surround, due to the way the east facade flares out in a curve.

The cast facade Faces Gth Avenue Morth and is set baek from the sidewalk approximarely 35', allowing
space for a driveway that served the original drive-up window. The plane of the east facade is concave
Fwith an overall recess of approximarely 4}, with a curve to match the drive, The wall s sheathed in
brick and has a large projecting bow window, 14 high and 80" long, rimmed in stone. A curved,
concrete marquee extends from the northernmost window panel o the brick sign tower northeast of the
building, Detailed in a way that it appears to floar, the marguee shelters the drive-up banking station,
continues the curve of the ficade, and connects the building and rower architecturally.

T'he west facade, along the alley, is secondary. It is primarily an exposed conerere wall, wi th
approximately 20" ar the southern end finished in brick to "wrap” from the primary south facade. There

is no fenesteation on the alley facade, altheugh a large fresh air intake is located at the upper, nor hern
portion of the wall.

On the interior at the main floor, s 78' long contral aval lobby, 30° wide at che middle, provided che
bank's lofty public space. Bankers' and tellers’ desks were located along either side of the lobby, which
had an aval check desk in the center. The north and south entry vestibules open inro the lobby, and the
four corners of the building housed separate spaces. The original plan had a conference room with
adjoining bathroom and coat closet located ar the southeast corner; a public waiting reom and employee
work o ar the southwest corner; the vault and safe depesit vault at the northwest corner; and janitor's
closer, public women's lounge, stairway to basement, and access to interior side of the night deposic box
ot the northeast coener, Property rax records from 1950 note first floor ceiling height as 17", and ariginal
drawings indicats approximately 20° ceilings in the entry vestibules.

A magazine article describes onginal interior finizhes:
The main floor fixwures, comprising teller's cages, counters, booths and desks.

are of pencil seripe walnut, enhanced with bronze, formica and Lucite fittings
and rim. A... carper of forest green background... [and] magnolia flowers
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covers the officers’ area, public waiting room, conference room and women s
lounge and powder roaim. ... Lighting threughout the bank is both Huorescent
slim line and recessed incandescent fixrures, (Reese, p. 9.)

The articde also notes floor finishes as linotile in wark areas and warm red terrazzo in the public lobby,
ceiling finish as acoustical tle, and walls as painted plaster. The 80° window on cthe esst wall could be
screened wich a large, push-bumon operated drape. An interior planring bax was set beneath the window,

The full basement had 12" high ceilings and accommedated numerous service and employee spaces.
According to original drawings, it included a janitor’s closet, record vault, restroom, men’s Incker room,
and toiler. [n these spaces the ceiling was dropped e 9'. The northern portion of the basement was
marked in drawings as "future office space.”

Changes to the Original Building and Current Conditions

Some modifications have bean made in the past 45 years. The following specific changes are cited in
DPD permir records and drawings, and/or in drawings abrained from the current property manager

{Jones Lang LaSalle):

Dare Perrmic Work Scope

1950 Construction

1961 Dhive-up window alterations

1973 Alrerarions

1952 Energy conservatien modifications

1994 Remove existing metal letrers, replace with illuminated lerters; reface two existing 8 x
18" single face signs on ower

1997 Interior alteratians 1o existing bank to counters, phones: make doors barrier free

1999 Install one single face illuminated wall sign and one deuble face illuminared projecting
sign and reface; replace existing Seafirst signs, sign projects over sidewalk

2002 Remove canopy over drive-up island, replace reller window with ATM, imsulated wall

2002 One single face ATM sign

The 1973 alieracions designed by Maloney Herringon Freesz 8 Lund focused on the interior, main
floor. Drawings show removal of the curved banking counters and cabinets, and their replacement with
individual officers” desks on the east side of the lobby and a straight banking counter on the west side. A
new 200 by 60° suspended ceiling section was dropped in the center af the lobby, and three large circular
chandeliers were installed. Existing doot mullions and a threshold for an inner set of doots in the
seuthern entry vestibule were removed, Drrinking fountains were replaced. The exterior work involved
widening the curved drive by 5' and installing a new 4 wide "customer drive-up unit” in the center of
the driveway, aligned with the mator banking window at the nerth end of the east Facade.

The 1982 energy conservation modifications involved replacement of two cast iron boilers in the
basement with a new boiler, and insertion of new aluminum-frame doors in the existing openings within
the south entry vestibule. These were ro match the exrerior doors. Notes on the drawings specified "new
add-on insulating glass units on all panels, with reflective film to the upper levels.”

The building exrerior has not been altered since its construction in 1950, with the exception of changes
in signage over the years and replacement of the original motor banking window with an ATM, Inside,
the finishes and furniture in the lobby space have been changed. Currently, the central expanse of the
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floor is tiled and the outer portions, occupied by bank personnel, are carpered. MNewer reller counters
with plexiglass surrounds run along the west side of the lobly, while individual desks are locared to the
cast side, The southern portion of the basement was never converted ta office space and is presenty used
for storage. Part of the basement was reporcedly used as a bomb shelter and rerins signage for this.,

Seantle-First Mational Bank's Prototype Dﬁigﬂ.

Architect . Lister Holmes designed the Seattle-First Narional Bank Industrial Branch at 2764 1st Avenue
South, which opened October 26, 1946, According to the June 1960 issue of the Seartle-First National
Bank employee newslerter, “Bankoscope,” the Industrial branch building “represented a model - a
distinctive functional pattern of a new type of building to be followed in a stte-wide building program
intended o standardize all branch offices” (p. 8). Holmes' design featured 1all, block-like rectangular
massing and brick cladding, with a prominent, concave stone-clad entry surround placed symmetrically
1 the Facade. O the interior, the bank fearured a spacious and open public lobby, After Holmes
designed the 1946 building, subsequent similar buildings were designed by different architects, not en a
strict repetitive plan but adapred o each site. All the buildings are characrerized by their simple massing,
with higher, concave surround ar entry, and mest of them are brick-clad with a stone-clad entry
surround. Most were fresstanding o at corner locations, although some are presently sited mid-block,
with abutting commercial structures.

A II.S-E‘.]T[I.{-EI'FI Mi[il}ﬂﬂ.] Eil‘lk Fil'l'l!l.':r' Tre=" r]'unl'l 1570 I:.I_I:I.l:hll.‘lﬂd HLEHE PLL]I'JL'I'[ Im Scapes’ I:HD'EIH inclwdes
denrification of new bank branches by the dates they were established {in contrast to banks acquired by
Seartle-First Narional, which would net invelve construction of a new building). The list does not
appear i be entirely consistent with observed buildings, It omits some branches that are known to exist.
Also, 2 "Crown Hill* branch is listed, whereas Ballard and Greenwood branch buildings are extant. {One
of these might have been noted as the "Crown Hill” branch.) Finally, inclusion on this list does not
pguarantee thar the building was constructed after the prototype design, For instance, the military base
locations were most likely smaller and more tempaorary rather than permanent buildings.

Rranch Dare esrablished Additional branches observed, not on the list:
[ndustrial {Seartle) — prosaiype | 945 *Rallard (Searilz)

*Lake Ciry (Seartle] 15945 "Grespwood (Seartls)
*Richland, %Wa, 1948 “Pullman, "Wa.
Aurora-Neorth Park (Searthe) 1949 “Bremerton, Wa.
Larson Air Force Base 1949 *Topponish, Wa.

*6th & Denny (Seattle) 1930 *Moses Lake, Wa.
Unien Gap, Wa. 1951 “Olympia, Wa.

Maorth Wenarchee, Wa, 1953

University [Seartle] 1955

Burien 1955

Geiger Field {Spokane] 1955

Adrport [Seatac) 1957

Crown Hill (Searde) 1959

Lake Hills 1059

Tulkwila 1959 *Buildings based on the prototype.

The Pullman and Richland branches have been demolished, but were identified from historic phoros.
The other buildings an this list have not been documented; it is not known if they were based on the

prototype of if they are extant.
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& PHOTOS AND GRAPHICS

Mote: [mages in this report have been selected from the cited souree repositories. Many of these are copyrighted and
are used with strict permission for this dacument only. Copyright holders do net permit reproduction or rewse for
any purpose, Cantemparary photos are by BOLA Archirecrure o Planning and date from May-June 20006 wnless
ocherwise noted.
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Excerpes of Kroll Maps
from 1912-1920 [vop),

1 940-1960 (middle}, and
ca, 2000 (botram) show
the developmens of the
northern porrion of the
Dernuy Reprade area.
The bank property is
outlined in red. The
earlier muap shows low-
scale residendal structures
on the su'l‘.'ljtl:t hlnck and
rhose surrounding it
The laer map shaows the
area after completion of

the regrade project and

conscruction of the
Highway 99 wnnel.
{Kroll Map Company.)
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A 2002 aerial photo shows the subject site in (5 context Aurora Avenue North is rwo blocks to the east and Dienny
Way immediately south. The edge of the Searrle Cenrer is visible ar che upper left corner of the image, northwest of
the subject sire. (DPFD M:P Cenvter.]

Wiew loaking norch over the
Drenny Regrade area wward Cueen
Anne Hill, Sepremnber 22, 1931.
The newly leveled blocks are
rrlmrlj.' vacant, (Seatile aniuipal
Archives, item no. 5188.)
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A tx record phoro shows the bank building soon after it was completed. View looking narthwest, Oetober 19,
1950, (Puget Sound Regional Archies.)

P

A similar view oday, looking northwest toward the south and east prinsary facades of the building.
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These photographs from a 1930 artice in
Corstrraction Newr Bullerin show the bank
sooq after its completion. From op we
I'H'H._.L'Im:

Wiew looking northwest, showing the
primary south and eass fcades of the
huilding. Mote the planters and the
horizonal marques thar connecs from dhe
bublding vo the vower.

View 'Im'l-.'lng mauchwest toward the eas
facade of the building, illustraring the

dynamic curve of che concrete mangues,
{Compars with current photo an p. 30.)

Detail view of the original mocor banking
window, the currenr location of & dove-up
auromated teller machine (ATM).
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Images from the same 1950 aricle, showing the
lobby fleor plan (sbove) and interior features and
finishes (left). Note the expansive feeling of the
public banking arca. Compare the Modern sode
interior with the tradirional, classical forms of the
Dhexter Horron Bank (helow). (University of
Washington Libraries Special Collections, negarive
na. LME15080.)
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Architect John % Maloney
also desagned che AE.

Larson Building, Yakima
(1931]) (Yakima Walley
Musewin p||l.lll.l. 1984, no.
2002 -A02-575) and the
Compton Union Building,
Washingron Stace University
campus (19501952} (WSU
Special Collecrions),
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Addinonal examples of buildings designed by
architect John W, Maloney or Maloney,
H-urnng'l-:u:l., Freew #& Lund include:

Lemizux Library, Seade Universicy Campus
(1966, Maloney, Herrington, Freesz & Lund);
56 Thomas Seminary, ac the north end of Laks
Washingron (1956-1958, Malewey), ina 19359
E'I'"':'[':“ and the Blue Cross Annex ﬂ-l:i]ﬂil'.h',-.
601 Broadway Avenue, Seartle (1959, Malomney
J 1067 additon, .‘l.-1.=.|-:|\:|-=':|.'. HL'rrII'IEIHII. Frrsz
A Lursd).

The Seminary of St Thomas The Apostle
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Threz examples of work by architect J.
Listzr Holmes, from top harrnm:

Crrim W', Fisher, Jr. residence,
Broadmoor, ca. 1921, [Universicy al’
Washingran Librarics Special
Caollections, |1=g.l.|i'n.' na, L1 3924.)

Seairle Public Schosls Adminiscration
Building (1948), undatsd phoro,
(University of Washingron Libraries
Hp._-:i_.d Collections, negative no.

a1 54490

Carheriine Blaine Juniar | [igh {100
1952, undawsd phoro, iU niversicy of
Washington Libraries Speocal

Prigsty of SACE, Unirrsky  Wishegien birmmma. el £o 251 | Collections, megative . DA 1801.)
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Archirscr |, Lisrer Holmes designed the Induserial Branch building for Seartle-First National Bank in 1946. This
building, at 2764 Lsz Avenue South, served as a prowosype for the bank’s post-war buildings, Subssquent sinailar
buildings were designed by different architects, not on a srice repetitive plan bue adapred 1o each sire. All the
buildings are characrerized by their simple massing, with higher, concave sursound ar enry, and most of them are
brick-clad with a stone-clad entry surround. Most were fresstanding or at comes locations, although some are
presently sited mid-hlock, with abutting commercial srucrures. Bight exa mples are pictured:

A Pullman branch was constructed ca. 1948, this building is no longer extant.
iPhoto ¢ 1950, Washingron State Universiy Special Collections, image
idengibier 0200176,
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Searile area hranches include,
froan i [0 Iamam:

Gireenwood beanch, Ballard
branch, amd a stone entry

surround salvaged from che
demaolished Lake Cioy Way

i
I.'II'.1.I1I.'|1
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Branches around Wﬁthingrnn
grate include Bremeron, Maoses
Lake, Toppenish, and Olympia
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View looking northwest toward the building, showing the east facade and the relationship of the 30 wwer w the
building. More the concrete marquee connecring these rwo elements.

Dierail wiew looking northwest, showing of concave bowed window on the east facade.
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Yiew looking northeast across Denny Way toward the building, showing the south and the
weat {alley) facudes,

View looking soushwess acrass the parking bot, showing the north facade. Note the neasly
identical features of the north and scuth facades, designed o provide cosomers with
equivalent experiences whether they approached from the street or the parking los.
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Fromm mop 1 hotom:

Looking southwest toward the building
fram che drive,

Dhepail *-:I'mwing |:-rigi|:|=| il'.l.q.:_l al 5igr.agt.
this is at the east entry, sccessed from Grh
Avenue Morth,

Closer view of aluminum door asembly ar
the sauth facade. The large bronee
medallinns show the Seartle-First Makonal
Banlk insignia
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| ncerior views showing the lobby space (looking south] and portion 1o the east of the lobly.
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Interior views showing the southern entry vestibule and the safe.
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